
 

 

 
REGULAR BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING 
Thursday, December 11, 2025, at 1:30 p.m. 
GVB Conference Room and Teleconference - Zoom 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/89090779984?pwd=aeGojojPvOMoNDxc4fVCdfQIuBHngK.1  
Meeting ID: 890 9077 9984 
Passcode: visitguam 
 
I. CALL TO ORDER 

The Guam Visitors Bureau Board of Directors Meeting was called to order at 1:31PM. 
II. ROLL CALL 

Present: George Chiu, Joaquin Cook, Clifford Guzman, Milton Morinaga, Michelle Merfalen, 
Mike Sgro, Joanne Brown, Brian Artero 

 Not Present: Jeff Jones, Ken Yanagisawa 
 Online: Ho Eun, Mayor Robert Hofmann 
III. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (November 13, 2025) 

• Director Guzman motioned to approve the meeting minutes dated November 13, 2025, 
and seconded by Director Morinaga. Motion approved unanimously. 

IV. ACTION BY THE BOARD 
V. CHAIRMAN'S REPORT 

Chairman Chiu thanked those who participated in the Guam International Dance Festival 
(GIDF), noting it was a great event that exceeded expectations. Chairman Chiu also noted 
that events like GIDF are not only good for the visitor industry but for local participation 
and looks forward to future events. Chairman Chiu also thanked staff and management for 
all their hard work and wished everyone a safe, merry Christmas this holiday season.  

VI. MANAGEMENT REPORT 
 
 
 

 

 

MANAGEMENT
REPORT
Régine Biscoe Lee, President & CEO
GVB Board of Directors Meeting
December 11, 2025

8



 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
• Director Cook inquired if GVB had any data on the parks visitors went to, to which GVB 

Management stated that there is some feedback from them.  
• Director Brown also asked about shopping and why they score it low, which GVB 

Management it is likely due to price competition. Director Brown noted that she wants 
to see what GVB can improve so tourists can have a better experience. GVB 
Management further noted that tourists spend more in the food and beverage industry 
over luxury brands.  

• Director Morinaga asked if it is possible to know whether tourists are staying at hotels 
or Air BNBs, to which GVB Management mentioned a bulk of them stay at hotels and 
that it can be further investigated. 
 

October 2025

Total: 61,792 (+16.4%)

% vs LY20252024Origin% Market Mix

16.6%32,53827,897Korea52.7%

28.5%18,47814,381Japan29.9%

-14.9%4,9045,760US/Hawaii7.9%

4.5%1,3851,325Philippines2.2%

318.6%674161Taiwan1.1%

-17.0%375452China0.6%

23.6%6855Hong Kong0.1%

October 1-31, 2025

Source: Guam Customs Declaration Forms. Processed by the Guam Visitors Bureau.



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 



 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 



 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
  
 

 
 
 
 



 

 

 
 
 

 

 
VII. REPORT OF BOARD COMMITTEES 

A. EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 
B. ADMINISTRATION & GOVERNMENT 
• FY2026 Purchase Orders, Contracts, IFBs, and RFPs for Board Review and Disposition 

by the Board 
 Ratification: GVB RFP 2025-006 Holiday Illumination Contract $445K 

• MOTION:  
Motion to approve and authorize the President and CEO as Chief 
Procurement Officer to contract with highest rated offeror, Hanna  
Enterprises Inc., at the negotiated price of:  
FY2026 Fee: $445,000 per year 

• BACKGROUND: 



 

 

GVB issued a procurement entitled GVB RFP 2025-006 seeking 
proposals from professional and experienced companies to provide 
illumination in Tumon and Hagåtña for the annual Christmas Village 
held during the holiday season. The selected company shall utilize 
qualified personnel and equipment to install the festive illumination 
and shall conduct regular inspections to ensure safety of electrical 
wiring and connections. The procurement and evaluations were 
conducted, with Hanna Enterprises, Inc., selected as the highest-
rated offeror. After evaluations, GVB and Hanna Enterprises, Inc. 
engaged in price negotiations.  
At the October GVB Board of Directors Meeting, the Board of 
Directors issued a decision to approve $300,000 of the negotiated 
$445,000 for the project. At the following November Meeting, 
there was a motion to increase the price to the original $445,000 
as negotiated, but due to a lack of public notice on the decision, 
ratification of this motion is needed. 

• ISSUE:  
Board approval and ratification required. 
First motion made by Director Hofmann and seconded by Director 
Sgro. Motion approved unanimously. 

• DISCUSSION: 
Director Brown stated that the process which this approval went 
through was unusual and inquired if it is possible for this service to 
be a two or three-year contract. 
Chairman Chiu noted that he does not feel comfortable approving 
a contract that would extend beyond his length of service. 

 GVB RFP 2025-008 Fireworks 
• MOTION:  

To approve and authorize the GVB President & CEO as Chief 
Procurement Officer to contract with the highest rated offeror, 
ShowPro Pyrotechnics dba Jamz Media, at the negotiated price of:  
 

• BACKGROUND: 
The Guam Visitors Bureau solicited proposals from a qualified and 
certified firm or individual (“Offeror”) to provide FIREWORKS 
(PYROTECHNICS) shows during New Year’s, Liberation Day and 
other holidays. The contractual obligation shall begin January 1, 



 

 

2026, through September 30, 2026, for FY2026, with the option to 
renew for two (2) additional years through FY2028, subject to fiscal 
year-end performance reviews, availability and certification of 
funds from fiscal year to fiscal year. For purpose of the RFP, the 
following definitions were used: 
“Fireworks shows” is defined as a public event which fireworks are 
set alight.  
“Fireworks” is defined as low explosive pyrotechnic devices used 
for aesthetic and entertainment purposes. These devices will be 
used for displays, combining a large number of devices in a safe 
outdoor setting. Such displays are the focal point of many cultural 
and religious celebrations and/or events. 

• ISSUE:  
Board approval required. 
First motion made by Director Hofmann and seconded by Director 
Guzman. Motion approved unanimously. 

• DISCUSSION: 
Chairman Chiu reemphasized that he is not inclined to approve a 
contract that goes beyond his length of service. 
Director Hofmann noted that this contract length is beneficial as 
even if prices rise, GVB is still able to pay a lower price due to the 
longer contract, which Director Guzman also agreed with. 
Chairman Chiu then stated that there are options to renew the 
contract, and that he would support it if there were an option for 
GVB to refuse should they not want to renew. 
Director Hofmann inquired if there was an option to use the 
fireworks for events other than the ones listed, to which GVB 
Management noted that an additional show has been budgeted for. 

 GVB RFP 2025-016 Guam Liaison in Taiwan 
• MOTION:  

Motion to approve and authorize the GVB President and CEO as 
Chief Procurement Officer to issue the Notice to Proceed to VEDA 
International Corporation for the Guam Liaison in Taiwan contract. 

• BACKROUND: 
GVB issued a procurement entitled GVB RFP 2025-016 on August 
4, 2025 seeking proposals from professional and experienced 
agencies to provide services for a Guam Liaison in Taiwan. The 
selected agency will assist GVB and GEDA in continuing the 
momentum to promote Destination Guam beyond travel tourism in 



 

 

the fields of economic and trade affairs, airport and airlines industry 
intelligence, agriculture, culture, and education. 
On August 28, 2025, at the GVB Board of Directors meeting, a 
motion was made by Director Hofmann, and seconded by Director 
Jones to approve the GVB President and CEO as Chief 
Procurement Officer to procure and enter negotiations with the 
highest rated offer for the Guam Liaison in Taiwan to commence in 
FY2026, with the option to renew for up to three (3) additional 
fiscal years, and to contract, subject to the availability of funds, and 
upon final approval of the Board of Directors. Motion was 
approved. 
FY2026 Retainer Fee: $5,000 per month 
($45,000 for the remainder of FY2026 – Jan. thru Sept. 2026) 
FY2026 Out of Pocket Expense: $1,000 per month 
($9,000 for the remainder of FY2026 – Jan. thru Sept. 2026) 

• ISSUE:  
Board approval required. 
First motion made by Director Hofmann and seconded by Director 
Morinaga. Motion approved unanimously. 

• DISCUSSION: 
Chairman Chiu questioned why this company is being brought on 
as a liaison if they were not performing well as a marketing 
company. GVB Management noted that the scope of work for the 
Taiwan liaison is different, with an emphasis in stimulating beyond 
tourism and into economics and trade. 
Director Morinaga noted that continuity is important in 
government, and that the company has good rapport with the 
Taiwanese government, which is beneficial to GVB. He further 
noted that this contract is essentially having someone in Taiwan 
representing GVB’s need. 
Chairman Chiu further asked if the Guam Economic Development 
Authority (GEDA) would also pay into this contract, which GVB 
Management confirmed. 

 GVB RFP 2025-017 Electronic Declaration Form 
• MOTION:  

Motion to approve and authorize the GVB President and CEO as 
Chief Procurement Officer to contract with the highest rated 
offeror, New Data Solutions Pty. Ltd., at the negotiated price of:  
FY2026 (10 Months): $131,092.50 
FY2027: $150,168.00 



 

 

FY2028: $153,924.00 
• BACKGROUND 

GVB issued a procurement entitled GVB Request for Proposal 
(RFP) 2025-017 seeking proposals from professional and 
experienced companies to provide the Electronic Declaration Form 
(EDF). The selected company will assist GVB in implementing the 
existing EDF program and the integration of current passenger 
screening processes and data analytics software, and effectively 
managing, analyzing, investigating, and presenting data derived 
from the EDF. 
On August 28, 2025, the GVB Board of Directors approved a 
motion to authorize the GVB President & CEO as Chief 
Procurement Officer to procure and enter into negotiations with 
the highest rated offeror for the EDF for FY2026, with the option 
to renew for up to three (3) additional fiscal years, and to contract, 
subject to the availability of funds and upon final approval of the 
GVB Board of Directors. 
 
After successful negotiations, the Bureau intends to contract with 
New Data Solutions Pty. Ltd. for the implementation, hosting, and 
support of the EDF program beginning in FY2026 through FY2028, 
subject to the availability of funds each fiscal year. 

• ISSUE:  
Board approval required. 
First motion made by Director Hofmann and seconded by Director 
Artero. Motion approved unanimously. 

• DISCUSSION: 
Director Artero stated that this contract already exists, which GVB 
Management confirmed that the contract had expired. GVB 
Management also stated that the new scope of work for the 
contract now includes enhancements to the system so that data 
can be uploaded faster. 
Director Brown inquired about the increase in price for future fiscal 
years, which Chairman Chiu replied that the FY2026 contract is only 
for the remainder of the fiscal year while the future contracts are 
for the entire fiscal year. 
Director Morinaga inquired about who the company was, which 
GVB Management stated that they are the existing company which 
have been working with for more than a decade. 

    C. DESTINATION MANAGEMENT/ VISTOR SAFETY & SATISFACTION 



 

 

• Committee Meeting Minutes dated September 11, 2025 
    D. CULTURAL HERITAGE & COMMUNITY OUTREACH 

• Committee Meeting Minutes dated October 9, 2025 
• MCOG Meeting passed a resolution to congratulate Dee on her retirement.  

    E. RESEARCH 
    F. SPORTS & EVENTS 
 Chairman Chiu recognized the presence of Steve Shimizu. Director Sgro noted that the 
Guam national team played the Philippines and that we should maximize these events in the 
future and to have more presence. RBL noted that there is Korean team slated to come early next 
year so that we can maximize those visits. RBL noted that the GVB team is trying to brand April 
as wellness month. 
    G. JAPAN  

• Committee Meeting Minutes dated November 18, 2025 
    H. KOREA 

• Committee Meeting Minutes dated November 18, 2025 
I. TAIWAN 
J. NORTH AMERICA, PACIFIC, PHILIPPINES & NEW MARKETS 
K. MEMBERSHIP  
L. RECOVERY COMMITTEE 

Recovery Committee Chairman Mark Baldyga explained the origins of the Tumon Night 
Market, where they decided that the Tumon location would be the best location. He noted 
that there have not been many new activities which has led to difficulty in increasing 
arrivals.  
He further noted that what is great about the night market is that it is a weekly event rather 
than a yearly event, and it has become an anchor for other signature events. He also stated 
that concerns from businesses in the area are worth noting, but it is important to look at 
the bigger picture. He further explained that these concerns may be a vocal minority, as 
he spoke with six tenants in the area, and they said they were performing better on 
Sundays.  



 

 

He stated the two most important things are the local vendors and the CHamoru people. 
He noted the spirit of inafa’maolek that was the selling point for our tourists— connection 
to the locals. He also noted that the night market is not yet at its peak and should continue 
to be improved. 
GVB President Lee noted that there are concerns that have been brought up and that GVB 
is working to address them such as parking, road closure and limited vendor space. 
Chairman Chiu noted that two out of the three concerns are actually positive and good 
problems to have. On road closures, Mr. Baldyga, Chairman Chiu, and Director Eun all noted 
that pushing back the time that the roads close is a good idea. 
Director Brown noted that some businesses have been affected negatively, up to a 30% 
decrease in sales and see if there is a way that we can find a way to assist them. She noted 
that extra effort should be made to facilitate so that these businesses do not close.  
Chairman mentioned that we should allow those businesses to have booths at the night 
market for free so that their business does not suffer, noting that many vendors have said 
that they make three to four times more money there than at the Wednesday night market. 
Director Eun also noted that due to traffic patterns for the TNM, traffic gets backed up 
from the Dusit Thani. He also noted there is a deduction in business on the hotel side as 
well as an increase in security spending.  

VIII. OLD BUSINESS CORPORATION 
IX. EXECUTIVE SESSION 

• Anticipated litigation 
o MOTION: 

Motion for the GVB Board of Directors to enter into executive session. 
 ISSUE: 

Board approval required. 
First motion made by Director Sgro and seconded by Director 
Guzman. Objection made by Director Brown. Motion approved 
with majority vote. 

 DISCUSSION: 
Director Brown stated her concerns about going into executive 
session and the lack of transparency of public notice, noting that 
the Board of Directors should not be going into executive 
session and making decisions without public knowledge. 
Chairman Chiu noted that executive session is publicly noticed, 
with “anticipated litigation” being on the agenda for the 
meeting. 
Director Brown further noted concerns of the agenda item 
being too vague and stated that “anticipated litigation” is not 
clear enough for public notice, which GVB legal counsel noted 



 

 

that in terms of public notice, reasonable notice of agenda items 
is required, and that the way the item was noticed was proper. 
Director Brown stated that she will not be in the room during 
the executive session. 

o MOTION: 
Motion for the GVB Board of Directors to exit executive session. 
 ISSUE: 

Board approval required. 
First motion made by Director Cook and seconded by Director 
Morinaga. Motion approved unanimously. 

X. OTHER BUSINESS 
XI. AGENDA ITEMS FOR THE NEXT MEETING 
XII. ANNOUNCEMENTS 

• Upcoming Board Meetings: December 11, 2025, and January 22, 2026 
• Acknowledgements of outgoing Directors and retiring staff 

XIII. ADJOURNMENT 
• Motion to adjourn made by Director Guzman and seconded by Director Morinaga. 

Motion approved unanimously. 
• The GVB Board of Directors meeting was adjourned at 3:38PM. 

 


